#### UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SHERMAN DISTRICT OF TEXAS EASTERN DIVISION

COLIN ROSS, ON BEHALF OF	§	
HIMSELF AND ALL OTHERS	§	
SIMILARLY SITUATED,	<b>§</b>	
	§	
PLAINTIFF	§	
	<b>§</b>	CA 4:21-cv-986
	§	
<b>V.</b>	§	
	§	
SHERMAN HEMP, LLC, ASHTEN	§	
LLC, JAY ASHLEY AND JAMIE	§	
ASHLEY,	<b>§</b>	

#### **DEFENDANTS**

#### PLAINTIFF'S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Colin Ross ("Named Plaintiff") on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated ("Class Members") (Named Plaintiff and Class Members are collectively referred to as "Plaintiffs") brings this Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") suit against the above named Defendants under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq., as amended.

#### I. NATURE OF SUIT

1. The FLSA was passed by Congress in 1938 to eliminate low wages and long hours and to correct conditions that were detrimental to the health and well-being of workers. *Brooklyn Sav. Bank v. O'Neil*, 324 U.S. 697, 706 (1945). To achieve its humanitarian goals, the FLSA "limits to 40 a week the number of hours that an employer may employ any of his employees subject to the Act, unless the employee receives compensation for his employment in excess of 40 hours at a rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate at which he is employed." *Walling v. Helmerich & Payne*, 323 U.S. 37, 40 (1944) (discussing the requirements of 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)).

- Defendants Sherman Hemp, LLC, Ashten LLC, Jay Ashley and Jamie Ashley ("Defendants") have violated the FLSA by failing to properly pay their employees overtime premiums for all hours worked over forty in a workweek.
- 3. Defendants operate two CBD Plus USA stores located in Sherman and Denton, Texas.
- 4. Defendants employed Plaintiff Ross as an hourly, non-exempt sales associate, but did not pay him overtime premiums when he worked more than forty hours in a workweek.
- 5. Because there are other putative plaintiffs who are similarly situated to the Named Plaintiff with regard to the work performed and the Defendants' compensation policies, Named Plaintiff brings this action as an opt-in collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

#### II. PARTIES

- 6. Named Plaintiff Colin Ross is an individual residing in this judicial district. His notice of consent is attached to Plaintiff's Original Complaint as Exhibit A.
- 7. At all relevant times, Ross was an "employee" of Defendants as defined by the FLSA.
- 8. At all relevant times, Defendants jointly acted as Ross's "employer" as defined by the FLSA.
- Defendant Sherman Hemp, LLC is a domestic limited liability company formed and existing under the laws of Texas.
- Defendant Sherman Hemp, LLC can be served with process by serving its registered agent, Ronnie
   Wooten, at 3004 Monties Lane, Arlington, Texas 76015.
- 11. Defendant Sherman Hemp, LLC was an employer of Named Plaintiff and those similarly situated as defined by 29 U.S.C. §203(d).
- 12. Defendant Ashten, LLC is a domestic limited liability company formed and existing under the laws of the State of Texas.
- 13. Defendant Ashten, LLC can be served by serving its registered agent for service of process, Ronnie

- Wooten, at 3004 Monties Lane, Arlington, Texas 76015.
- 14. Defendant Ashten, LLC was an employer of Named Plaintiff and those similarly situated as defined by 29 U.S.C. §203(d).
- 15. Defendant Jay Ashley is an individual residing in Oklahoma.
- 16. Defendant Jay Ashley can be served at 5342 Dickson Road, Ardmore Oklahoma, 73401.
- 17. Defendant Jay Ashley was an employer of Named Plaintiff and those similarly situated as defined by 29 U.S.C. §203(d).
- 18. Defendant Jamie Ashley is an individual residing in Oklahoma.
- 19. Defendant Jamie Ashley can be served at 5342 Dickson Road, Ardmore Oklahoma, 73401.
- 20. Defendant Jamie Ashley was an employer of Named Plaintiff and those similarly situated as defined by 29 U.S.C. §203(d).

#### III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 21. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction in this matter because Named Plaintiff asserts claims arising under federal law. Specifically, Named Plaintiff asserts claims arising under the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. Therefore, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. This Court also has personal jurisdiction over all parties to this action.
- 22. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants conduct business in this judicial district and have entered into relationships with Plaintiff in this judicial district and have committed actions in this judicial district that give rise to this cause of action.
- 23. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Texas, Sherman Division, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), because Defendants are located in and do business in this Division. Inasmuch as Defendants are subject to this Court's personal jurisdiction for purposes of this civil action,

Defendants reside in this district and division. Venue in this Court is therefore proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

#### IV. COVERAGE UNDER THE FLSA

- 24. At all relevant times, Defendants have acted, directly or indirectly, in the interest of an employer with respect to Named Plaintiff and the Class Members.
- 25. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have been an "employer" within the meaning of Section 3(d) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(d).
- 26. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants Sherman Hemp, LLC and Ashten LLC have each been engaged in an "enterprise" within the meaning of Section 3(r) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(r).
- 27. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants Sherman Hemp, LLC and Ashten LLC have each been an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of Section 3(s)(1) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1), in that Defendants are each an enterprise and have each had employees engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, or employees handling, selling, or otherwise working on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce by any person and in that each enterprise has had and has an annual gross volume of sales made or business done of not less than \$500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes at the retail level which are separately stated).
- 28. Named Plaintiff and Class Members handled and otherwise worked with equipment, such as telephones, computers, credit card machines and cash registers that have been moved in or produced for commerce as defined by 29 U.S.C. §203(b).
- 29. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Named Plaintiff and Class Members were individual "employees" (as defined in Section 3(e)(1) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)(1)) who were engaged

in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce as required by 29 U.S.C. §207 and whom Defendants at all relevant times "employ[ed]," within the meaning of Section 3(g) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(g).

#### V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

- 30. Defendants Jay and Jamie Ashley are CBD Plus USA franchisees.
- 31. CBD Plus USA stores sell CBD products to the general public.
- 32. Defendants Jay and Jamie Ashley own and operate at least two CBD Plus USA stores in Texas.
- 33. One CBD Plus USA store owned and operated by Defendants Jay and Jamie Ashley is located in Sherman, Texas.
- 34. The Sherman store operates under the name Sherman Hemp, LLC.
- 35. Both Jay and Jamie Ashley are members and directors of Sherman Hemp, LLC.
- 36. The second CBD Plus USA store owned and operated by Defendants Jay and Jamie Ashley is located in Denton, Texas.
- 37. The Denton store operates under the name Ashten, LLC.
- 38. Both Jay and Jamie Ashley are members and directors of Ashten LLC.
- 39. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Jay and Jamie Ashley exercised managerial responsibilities and substantial control over their employees, including Ross, and the terms and conditions of his employment. Jay and Jamie Ashley had the authority (and exercised that authority) to do the following: hire, fire and direct Sherman Hemp, LLC's and Ashten, LLC's employees, including Ross; supervise and control the employment relationships and work schedules of Sherman Hemp, LLC's and Ashten, LLC's employees, including Ross; set and determine the rate and method of pay of Sherman Hemp, LLC's and Ashten, LLC's employees, including Ross; and decide whether Ross and others received overtime compensation.

- 40. Defendants employed Plaintiff Ross as an hourly, non-exempt sales associate.
- 41. Defendants employed Ross at both the Sherman and Denton stores.
- 42. At all relevant times, Defendants Jay and Jamie Ashley used employees interchangeably between both stores.
- 43. Plaintiff Ross was always subject to Defendants Jay and Jamie Ashley's management, control and direction regardless of whether he worked at the Sherman or Denton store.
- 44. Defendants Jay and Jamie Ashley would also direct employees, including Plaintiff Ross, to transfer inventory between the stores.
- 45. Defendants Sherman Hemp, LLC and Ashten LLC shared the same owners and directors.
- 46. Defendants Sherman Hemp, LLC and Ashten LLC shared the same employees.
- 47. All Defendants jointly employed Plaintiff and all other employees working at the Sherman and Denton stores.
- 48. The joint employment doctrine "treats a worker's employment by joint employers as 'one employment' for purposes of determining compliance with the FLSA's wage and hour requirements." *Salinas v. Commercial Interiors, Inc.*, 848 F.3d 125, 134 (4th Cir. 2017); accord 29 C.F.R. § 791.2(a) ("[A]ll of the employee's work for all of the joint employers during the workweek is considered as one employment for purposes of the Act."). Thus, a finding of joint employment requires that the hours an employee works for each joint employer "be aggregated for overtime pay purposes" and that the joint employers be held jointly and severally liable for any failure to pay proper overtime compensation. *Wirtz v. Hebert*, 368 F.2d 139, 141 (5th Cir. 1966); *Mitchell v. John R. Cowley & Bro., Inc.*, 292 F.2d 105, 111–12 (5th Cir. 1961).
- 49. Even though Defendants jointly employed Plaintiff, Defendants refused to combine the hours Plaintiff worked for both Sherman Hemp, LLC and Ashten, LLC each week for overtime purposes.

- 50. Instead, Defendants Sherman Hemp, LLC and Ashten LLC would pay Ross from both entities each pay period, as if Sherman Hemp, LLC and Ashten LLC were totally independent and unrelated companies.
- 51. Although they consistently worked very long hours, well over forty hours per week, Plaintiffs were not paid overtime premiums for any hours worked over forty per week.
- 52. Defendants required the Plaintiffs to work the long hours described above, and thus knew that Plaintiffs regularly worked in excess of 40 hours per week. Nonetheless, Defendants failed and refused to compensate Plaintiffs at a rate that is not less than time-and-one-half their regular rates of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 in a workweek.
- 53. Defendants have jointly employed and are jointly employing other individuals as non-exempt hourly employees who have performed the same job duties under the same pay provisions as Named Plaintiff, in that they have performed, or are performing, the same job duties and have been denied overtime compensation at a rate of not less than one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for all hours worked over forty per workweek.
- 54. Defendants have knowingly, willfully, or with reckless disregard carried out, and continue to carry out, their illegal pattern or practice of failing to pay Named Plaintiff and the Class Members for all hours worked over forty per workweek.

#### VI. COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

55. Named Plaintiff and the Class Members have performed—and are performing—the same or similar job duties as one another. Further, Named Plaintiff and the Class Members were subjected to the same pay provisions in that they were not paid overtime premiums for any hours worked over forty per workweek. Thus, the Class Members are owed one and one-half their properly

calculated regular hourly rate for all hours worked over forty in a workweek without regard to their individualized circumstances.

56. Defendants have a policy or practice of not paying their employees overtime premiums for any hours worked over forty per workweek. These policies or practices are and have been, at all relevant times, applicable to the Named Plaintiff and all Class Members. Application of this policy or practice does not depend on the personal circumstances of the Named Plaintiff or those joining this lawsuit. Rather, the same policies or practices that resulted in the refusal to pay overtime compensation for any hours worked over forty per workweek to Named Plaintiff also applied to all Class Members. Accordingly, the "Class Members" are properly defined as:

All current and former hourly sales associated who were employed, either jointly or individually, by Defendants and were not compensated for all hours worked over forty per workweek.

#### VII. CAUSE OF ACTION

# FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME WAGES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT

- 57. During the relevant period, Defendants have violated and are violating Section 7 of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 207 and 215(a)(2), by employing employees in an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of the FLSA as stated herein above, for workweeks longer than 40 hours without compensating such employees for all of their work in excess of forty hours per week at rates no less than one-and-one-half times their correct regular rates for which they were employed. Defendants have acted willfully in failing to pay Plaintiffs in accordance with applicable law.
- 58. None of the exemptions provided by the FLSA regulating the duty of employers to pay overtime at a rate not less than one and one-half times the correct regular rate at which their employees are paid are applicable to the Named Plaintiff or Class Members.

#### VIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Named Plaintiff and the Class Members pray for an expedited order directing notice to putative class members pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and, upon trial of this cause, judgment against all Defendants, jointly and severally, as follows:

- a. For an Order pursuant to Section 16(b) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §216(b), finding Defendants liable for unpaid back wages due to Named Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) and for liquidated damages equal in amount to the unpaid compensation found due to Named Plaintiff (and those who may join the suit);
- b. For an Order awarding Named Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) the taxable costs and allowable expenses of this action;
- c. For an Order awarding Named Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) attorneys' fees;
- d. For an Order awarding Named Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) prejudgment and post-judgment interest at the highest rates allowed by law;
- e. For an Order awarding Named Plaintiff declaratory and injunctive relief as necessary to prevent the Defendants' further violations, and to effectuate the purposes, of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.;
- f. For an Order granting such other and further relief, at law or in equity, as may be necessary and/or appropriate.

Respectfully submitted,

MORELAND VERRETT, P.C.

/s/ Douglas B. Welmaker Douglas B. Welmaker Attorney-in-Charge State Bar No. 00788641 Moreland Verrett, PC 700 West Summit Dr. Wimberley, Texas 78676 Phone: (512) 782-0567

Fax: (512) 782-0605

Email: doug@morelandlaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF

### Exhibit A

#### **NOTICE OF CONSENT**

I, the undersigned, a current or former employee of the defendant(s) named herein, hereby consent to participate as a party plaintiff in a collective action lawsuit under the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") seeking any and all overtime pay and all other damages and amounts that I may be owed under the FLSA. By joining this collective action, I agree to be a class representative. I choose to be represented by Moreland Verrett, PC and any other attorneys with whom they may associate in this lawsuit. I agree to be bound by the outcome of this proceeding. I have consented to act as a party plaintiff in this collective action.

Colin Ross	
Full Name (Print)	
DocuSigned by:  435D15C5466646C  S1gnature	
11/29/2021	
Date	

## JS 44 (Rev. 09/19) Case 4:21-cv-00986-SDJ Document 1-2 Filed 12/20/21 Page 1 of 1 PageID #: 12

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PLACE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS	ocket sneet. (SEE INSTRUC	TIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF TE	DEFENDANTS	1	
I. (a) PLAINTIFFS			DEFENDANTS		
Colin Ross  (b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff  (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)		County of Residence	Sherman Hemp, LLC, Ashten LLC, Jay and Jamie Ashley  County of Residence of First Listed Defendant (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)  NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.		
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, 1	Address, and Telephone Numbe	r)	Attorneys (If Known)		
Moreland Verrett, PC, 70 (512) 782-0567	00 West Summit Dr., V	Vimberley, Texas 7867	76		
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	ICTION (Place an "X" in O	ne Box Only)		RINCIPAL PARTIES	(Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintig
☐ 1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	■ 3 Federal Question (U.S. Government)	Not a Party)		TF DEF  1 □ □ 1 Incorporated or Pr  of Business In □	
☐ 2 U.S. Government Defendant	☐ 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizensh.)	ip of Parties in Item III)	Citizen of Another State	2 Incorporated and I of Business In A	
			Citizen or Subject of a Foreign Country	I 3	
IV. NATURE OF SUIT		ely) PRTS		Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.	
	PERSONAL INJURY	PERSONAL INJURY	FORFEITURE/PENALTY  ☐ 625 Drug Related Seizure	BANKRUPTCY  7 422 Appeal 28 USC 158	OTHER STATUTES  375 False Claims Act
□ 110 Insurance □ 120 Marine □ 130 Miller Act □ 140 Negotiable Instrument □ 150 Recovery of Overpayment	□ 310 Airplane □ 315 Airplane Product Liability □ 320 Assault, Libel & Slander □ 330 Federal Employers' Liability □ 340 Marine □ 345 Marine Product Liability □ 350 Motor Vehicle □ 355 Motor Vehicle □ Product Liability □ 360 Other Personal Injury □ 362 Personal Injury Medical Malpractice  CIVIL RIGHTS □ 440 Other Civil Rights □ 441 Voting □ 442 Employment □ 443 Housing/ Accommodations □ 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - Employment □ 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other □ 448 Education	PERSONAL INJURY  365 Personal Injury - Product Liability  367 Health Care/ Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability  368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability  PERSONAL PROPERTY  370 Other Fraud  371 Truth in Lending  380 Other Personal Property Damage 385 Property Damage Product Liability  PRISONER PETITIONS  Habeas Corpus:  463 Alien Detainee  510 Motions to Vacate Sentence  530 General  535 Death Penalty Other:  540 Mandamus & Other  550 Civil Rights  555 Prison Condition  560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement	□ 625 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881 □ 690 Other   LABOR  X 710 Fair Labor Standards Act □ 720 Labor/Management Relations □ 740 Railway Labor Act □ 751 Family and Medical Leave Act □ 790 Other Labor Litigation □ 791 Employee Retirement Income Security Act  IMMIGRATION □ 462 Naturalization Application □ 465 Other Immigration Actions	□ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 □ 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157  PROPERTY RIGHTS □ 820 Copyrights □ 830 Patent □ 835 Patent - Abbreviated New Drug Application □ 840 Trademark  SOCIAL SECURITY □ 861 HIA (1395ff) □ 862 Black Lung (923) □ 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) □ 864 SSID Title XVI □ 865 RSI (405(g))  FEDERAL TAX SUITS □ 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant) □ 871 IRS—Third Party 26 USC 7609	□ 375 False Claims Act □ 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a)) □ 400 State Reapportionment □ 410 Antitrust □ 430 Banks and Banking □ 450 Commerce □ 460 Deportation □ 470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations □ 480 Consumer Credit (15 USC 1681 or 1692) □ 485 Telephone Consumer Protection Act □ 490 Cable/Sat TV □ 850 Securities/Commodities/ Exchange □ 890 Other Statutory Actions □ 891 Agricultural Acts □ 893 Environmental Matters □ 895 Freedom of Information Act □ 896 Arbitration □ 899 Administrative Procedure Act/Review or Appeal of Agency Decision □ 950 Constitutionality of State Statutes
	moved from	Appellate Court	Reopened Anothe	erred from	
W. CARGE OF LOW	Cite the U.S. Civil Sta 29 USC 201 et s	tute under which you are fileq.	(specify) ling (Do not cite jurisdictional sta	tutes unless diversity):	
VI. CAUSE OF ACTIO	Brief description of ca Suit to recover un	iuse: paid overtime pursuan	nt to the Fair Labor Stand	lards Act	
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	CHECK IF THIS UNDER RULE 2	IS A CLASS ACTION 3, F.R.Cv.P.	DEMAND \$	CHECK YES only JURY DEMAND:	if demanded in complaint:
VIII. RELATED CASI IF ANY	E(S) (See instructions):	JUDGE		DOCKET NUMBER	
DATE 12/20/2021		signature of attor /s/ Douglas B. We	NEY OF RECORD elmaker		_
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY					
RECEIPT # AN	MOUNT	APPLYING IFP	JUDGE	MAG. JUE	OGE